1994

L & T Enterprises, Inc. and, or Workers
Compensation Fund of Utah v. Kim Kennedy dba
Kennedy Roofing (Uninsured); Jay C. Harris
(Uninsured); Uninsured Employers' Fund, And
Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §§ 35-1-82.53(2), 35-1-86 and 63-46B-16, Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the Industrial Commission err in not finding the Uninsured Employer's Fund liable along with the statutory employer L & T Construction and its insurance carrier the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah for a portion of the workers' compensation benefits awarded Mr. Fulton as is required by §35-1-107 U.C.A.? (Attached as Appendix 1)

III.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is a correction of error standard without deference to the decision of the administrative agency when "the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law." Utah Administrative Procedures Act Section 63-46b-16(4)(d) & (h)(iv) Utah Code Ann.; Morton International, Inc., v. Auditing Division of the Utah State Tax Commission, 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991); Mor-Flo Industries v. Board of Review, 817 P.2d 328 (Utah App. 1991).

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND CITATIONS TO THE RECORD SHOWING THAT THE ISSUES WERE PRESERVED BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

A. Nature of the Case

The Industrial Commission of Utah awarded workers compensation benefits to the applicant, Chad O. Fulton (hereinafter "Fulton") for injuries he suffered when he fell from a roof while in the course of his employment for Kim Kennedy dba Kennedy Roofing (Uninsured) (hereinafter "Kennedy"). (See Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, R. 62-68 attached as Appendix 2 hereto; and Order Granting Motion for Review, R. 78-82 attached as Appendix 3 hereto.) The parties on appeal do not contest the award of benefits. Rather the parties contest which of them is responsible for those payments and in what proportion they are responsible. The applicant below, Fulton, is not a party to the appeal. While the issues among the parties are being determined the petitioner, Workers' Compensation Fund of Utah (hereinafter "WCF"), the workers compensation insurance carrier for the statutory employer L & T Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter "L & T") is advancing payment of compensation benefits.

B. Course of Proceedings.

Fulton, was injured on June 11, 1992, when he fell from the roof of a building while working for Kennedy. Fulton filed an Application For Hearing October 17, 1992, claiming entitlement to workers compensation benefits. He listed Kennedy Roofing, Jay Harris and L & T as employers. A notation was made that "All

contractors appear uninsured". (R. 2) The Workers Compensation Fund of Utah answered on behalf of L & T with a general denial. WCF alleged that L & T was not the employer. WCF further alleged that Fulton was the employee of independent subcontractor(s). WCF relied on the 1988 amendments to §35-1-42 U.C.A. (R. 59)

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on April 29, 1993. (R. 61, R. 130-179) At the hearing evidence was presented regarding employee/employer relationship issues. Following the hearing, the administrative law judge entered his Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law and Order on May 5, 1993. (Appendix 2 hereto.) Applying the facts to the law, the administrative law judge found:

CONCLUSION OF LAW

The applicant sustained a compensable industrial accident on July 11, 1992, while employed by Kim Kennedy dba Kennedy Roofing/Total Construction/Norric Enterprises/Norman King. In addition, the applicant was also employed on July 11, 1992, by the statutory employer, L & T Enterprises, Inc.

(R. 65).

Because all of the direct employers were uninsured and apparently impecunious and unable to pay the compensation benefits, the administrative law judge ordered WCF to pay the compensation benefits to Fulton on behalf of L & T Enterprises. Pursuant to §35-1-107 U.C.A., the judge further ordered:

...that the Uninsured Employers Fund shall reimburse the Workers Compensation Fund of Utah for 50% of the benefits paid by Workers Compensation Fund of Utah on behalf of the

applicant as the result of the industrial accident of July 11, 1992.

(R. 66)

The Uninsured Employer's Fund (hereinafter "UEF") filed a Motion for Review on June 4, 1993, arguing the following:

1. The issue is one of statutory construction of §35-1-107 U.C.A.;

2. The statutory employer should be responsible for 100% of the benefits because in UEF's interpretation of §35-1-107 U.C.A., the role of the UEF is as a fund of last resort or "safety net" in the event all employers and statutory employers are uninsured and insolvent. (R. 69-74)

L & T and WCF filed a responsive letter supporting the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order of the administrative law judge on July 7, 1993. (R. 76)

C. Disposition by the Industrial Commission

The Industrial Commission entered its Order Granting Motion for Review on June 28, 1994. The Commission adopted the administrative law judge's Findings of Fact including the finding that L & T was Fulton's statutory employer but made different conclusions of law based on those facts. The Commission concluded:

The Commission disagrees with the ALJ's application of [§35-1-107 U.C.A.]. The statute imposes liability on the UEF only in those cases where an injured employee's employer is uninsured and insolvent...In this case, Fulton had two employers; Kennedy and L & T...

While Kennedy is uninsured and insolvent, L & T is neither uninsured nor insolvent. Therefore, because L & T is Fulton's employer and is able to pay workers' compensation benefits, the provisions of §35-1-107(1) are not triggered and UEF is not obligated to pay any of Fulton's benefits.

(R. 78-81 and Appendix 3)