1994

L & T Enterprises, Inc. and, or Workers
Compensation Fund of Utah v. Kim Kennedy dba
Kennedy Roofing (Uninsured), Jay C. Harris
(Uninsured), Uninsured Employers' Fund, and
Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to sections 35-1-82.53(2), 35-1-86 and 63-46b-16, Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Is the Uninsured Employers' Fund ("UEF") liable for a portion of the benefits awarded to Chad Fulton under section 35-1-107, U.C.A.?

III.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The correction of error standard is the appropriate standard of review to be applied in this matter. The Court will review the administrative agency's conclusions of law without deference to determine whether the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law.¹

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The UEF hereby adopts the statement of the case contained in the Brief of Petitioner.

¹Section 63-46b-16(4)(d), Utah Code Ann.; Morton International vs. Auditing Div. of the Utah State Tax Comm'n, 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991); Mor-Flo Industries vs. Bd. of Review, 817 P.2d 328 (Utah App. 1991).

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The applicant, Chad O. Fulton ("Fulton") was injured in an industrial accident on July 11, 1992, when he fell off a roof while working on a construction project for Kim Kennedy Roofing ("Kennedy"), subcontractor to L & T Enterprises, Inc. ("L&T"). (R. 63)

2. Fulton filed an application for workers compensation benefits. (R. 57)

3. The administrative law judge issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on May 5, 1993. (R. 62-68)

4. The administrative law judge concluded that:

A. Fulton was an employee of Kennedy and a statutory employee of L & T.;

B. Kennedy was jointly responsible with L & T for the payment of workers' compensation benefits to Fulton;

C. Because Kennedy was uninsured and insolvent, the administrative law judge ordered L & T to pay Fulton's workers' compensation benefits. (R. 62-68)

D. The UEF was ordered to pay L & T for Kennedy's share of the benefits. (R. 62-68)

5. On June 4, 1993, the UEF filed a motion for review claiming that it was not liable to pay benefits because Fulton's employer L & T was insured and able to pay benefits. (R. 69-74)

6. The Industrial Commission granted the UEF's motion for Review on June 28, 1994, adopting the administrative law judge's

findings of fact but reaching different conclusions of law. The Industrial Commission concluded "[w]hile Kennedy is uninsured and insolvent, L & T is neither uninsured nor insolvent. Therefore, because L & T is Fulton's employer and is able to pay workers' compensation benefits, the provisions of section 35-1-107(1) are not triggered and UEF is not obligated to pay any of Fulton's benefits." (R. 78-82)

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The parties agree that L & T Enterprises was Fulton's statutory employer. The Workers Compensation Act provides that liability for an injured employee moves up the hierarchy of employers and statutory employers until it reaches an insured or solvent employer. That employer is then liable for the injured worker's benefits.

The UEF was created to pay the claims of employees whose employers are uninsured and insolvent. The relevant portions of the Utah Workers' Compensation Act must be applied in harmony to determine who is liable for the payment of benefits. One must first determine whether there is an insured or solvent employer to pay benefits. If there is an insured or solvent employer, UEF liability does not arise.

VII.

ARGUMENT

THE UTAH WORKERS COMPENSATION ACT
DOES NOT REQUIRE THE UNINSURED EMPLOYERS'
FUND TO PAY BENEFITS WHERE THERE IS AN
INSURED OR SOLVENT EMPLOYER.

The Utah Workers Compensation Act, Title 35, Chapters 1 and 2, U.C.A. ("Act") was created to "alleviate hardships on workers and their families"² and "afford ... injured industrial workmen or their dependents simple, adequate and speedy means of securing compensation to the end that the cost of human wreckage may be taxed against the industry that employs it."³ To advance these purposes, the legislature created the "statutory employer"⁴ and the Uninsured Employers' Fund.⁵

A. The Statutory Employer.

The statutory employer provision of the Act was intended to liberally extend the definition of employer to include contractors who, in some instances, would not qualify as common law employers and:

to protect employees of irresponsible and uninsured subcontractors by imposing ultimate liability on the presumably responsible principle contractor, who has it within his power, in choosing subcontractors, to pass upon their responsibility and insist upon appropriate compensation protection for their workers [and] forestall evasion of [workmen's compensation acts] by those who might be tempted to subdivide their regular operations among subcontractors, thus escaping direct employment relations with the workers.

Bennett vs. Industrial Commission, 726 P.2d 427, 431 quoting 1C A.

²*Baker vs. Industrial Commission*, 405 P.2d 613, 17 Utah 141, 143 (1965).

³*Park Utah Consolidated Mines Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 36 P.2d 979, 981 (1934).

⁴Section 35-1-42(6), U.C.A. (1994).

⁵Section 35-1-107, U.C.A. (1994).

Larson, *Workmen's Compensation Law*, Sections 49.14, 49.15 (1986).

Thus, the statutory employer was created to provide a safety net for the employees of subcontractors who, through inadvertence or design, chose to ignore the requirement of providing workers compensation insurance for their employees. If an injured worker was employed by an uninsured and insolvent subcontractor, the worker could proceed up the chain until he found an employer who was insured.

[I]n the increasingly common situation displaying a hierarchy of principal contractors upon subcontractors, upon sub-subcontractors, if an employee of the lowest subcontractor on the totem pole is injured, there is no practical reason for reaching up the hierarchy any further than the first insured contractor.

Jacobsen vs. Industrial Commission, 738 P.2d 658,661 (Ut App. 1987) quoting 1C A. Larson, *Workmen's Compensation Law*, Section 49.14 (1986).

The term "employer" is defined in section 35-1-42, "each person ... who regularly employs one or more workers or operatives in the same business, or in and about the same establishment, under any contract of hire, express or implied, oral or written is considered an employer under this title."⁶ This section further provides:

If any person who is an employer procures any work to be done wholly or in part for him by a contractor over whose work he retains supervision or control, and this work is part or process in the trade or business of the employer, the contractor, all persons employed

⁶Section 35-1-42(2), U.C.A. (1994).

by him, all subcontractors under him, and all persons employed by any of these subcontractors, are considered employees of the original employer.⁷

Thus, section 35-1-42(6) creates an employee/employer relationship between the statutory employer and all subcontractors and employees under him. The language of the statute is in the singular.⁸

B. The Uninsured Employers' Fund.

In 1984, the Utah Legislature created a fund which is now known as the Uninsured Employers' Fund ("UEF"). The statute initially provided that the UEF was:

for the purpose of paying and assuring, to persons entitled to, workers' compensation benefits when an employer ... does not have sufficient funds, insurance, sureties, or other security to cover workers' compensation liabilities under this chapter.

1984 Utah Laws 613, *appended* at Appendix 2. The portion of the statute relevant to this appeal was amended in 1986⁹ and 1988.¹⁰

⁷Section 35-1-42(6)(a) U.C.A. (1994).

⁸In *Kinne vs. Industrial Commission*, the Utah Supreme Court held that "an employee for workers compensation purposes may have more than one employer." *Id.* at 928.

⁹Subsection (1) of the statute was amended in 1986 to read:

There is created a ~~Default-Indemnity~~ an Uninsured Employers' Fund for the purpose of paying and assuring, to persons entitled to workers compensation benefits when ~~an~~ every employer of the claimant who is found to be individually, jointly, or severably liable... does not have sufficient funds, insurance, sureties, or other security to cover workers' compensation liabilities under this chapter.

1986 Utah Laws 662, *appended* at Appendix 3.

In *Jacobsen vs. Industrial Commission*,¹¹ this Court determined that this statute did not require contribution by the UEF in cases where there was an insured statutory employer.

Ring was Pugh's direct employer. Ring is primarily liable. Jacobsen was Pugh's statutory employer. Jacobsen is, therefore, also liable with Ring. "[I]n the increasingly common situation displaying a hierarchy of principal contractors upon subcontractors upon sub-subcontractors, if an employee of the lowest subcontractor on the totem pole is injured, there is no practical reason for reaching up the hierarchy any further than the first insured contractor." 1C A. Larson, *Workmen's Compensation Law*, Section 49.14 (1986). Ring has no means to pay benefits to Pugh, but Jacobsen, the party secondarily liable, has insurance coverage. If Jacobsen did not have sufficient funds or coverage, then "every" employer of Pugh would be unable to cover the liabilities for Pugh's benefits, as contemplated in section 35-1-107 (1) (1986). At that point, and not until that point, the Uninsured Employers' Fund would come into operation for the benefit of Pugh.

Id. at 661.

¹⁰The 1988 amendment, in relevant part, read as follows:
The fund has the purpose of paying and assuring, to persons entitled to assisting in the payment of workers' compensation benefits when every to any person entitled to them, if that person's employer of the claimant is found to be individually, jointly or severally liable to pay the benefits, but becomes or is insolvent, appoints or has appointed a receiver, or otherwise does not have sufficient funds, insurance, sureties, or other security to cover workers compensation liabilities... If it becomes necessary to pay benefits,, the fund is liable for all obligations of the employer as set forth in Title 35 Chapters 1 and 2, with the exception of penalties on those obligations.

1988 Utah Laws 512, appended at Appendix 4.

¹¹738 P.2d 658, 661 (Ut. App. 1987).

Although the language of the statute was changed somewhat by the 1988 amendment, the analytical framework is the same. One must determine whether there is a statutory employer liable to pay benefits. All parties agree that L & T was Fulton's statutory employer. It is clear that L & T is able to pay Fulton's benefits. If there is an insured and solvent employer, the provisions of section 35-1-107 do not come into play.

Section 35-1-107 only requires the UEF to pay benefits when a claimant's "employer" is uninsured and insolvent. The statute provides that the UEF is "liable for all obligations of the employer," not a portion thereof. Where there is an insured or solvent statutory employer, UEF liability does not arise. L & T was Fulton's employer. L & T was insured and able to pay workers compensation benefits. Therefore, UEF liability does not arise.

To hold that the UEF must pay benefits in cases where there is an insured statutory employer would contravene the purpose behind the creation of the statutory employer. It would remove the incentive for a statutory employer to require his subcontractors to provide workers compensation insurance for their employees. This is an important first line of defense in the Industrial Commission's efforts to ensure compliance with workers' compensation insurance requirements. It would also allow the statutory employer to shift part of his cost of doing business to his competitors, enabling him to maintain a competitive advantage in the marketplace by avoiding the full cost of workers compensation insurance for his employees.

The Petitioner asserts that the 1988 amendments to section 35-1-107 were "a direct response" to the *Jacobsen* decision.¹² Our investigation of the legislative history simply does not bear out this claim. The legislative history of House Bill 113, the 1988 Workers Compensation Amendments, contains no reference at all to the *Jacobsen*¹³ decision and only a single reference to the amendments to section 35-1-107.¹⁴

It is important to note that section 35-1-107 was modified by the 1988 Legislature to not only delete the word "every," but also to delete passive voice and make other technical amendments. If the legislature really intended to overrule the *Jacobsen* decision as Petitioner claims, it is surprising that this purpose was never mentioned in the debates in the Utah House and Senate. If the legislature really intended to overrule *Jacobson*, one would expect some indication in the legislative record. For example, when the legislature amended section 35-1-42 to overrule the Supreme Court's

¹² Petitioners' Brief at 10.

¹³The only judicial decision mentioned in the legislative history is *Bennett vs. Industrial Commission*, 726 P.2d 427 (1986). *Bennett* broadened the definition of statutory employer. The 1988 amendments to section 35-1-42 were intended to narrow the scope of the statutory employer provision to exclude certain independent contractors. Debate and vote of the Utah House of Representatives, HB 113, 1988 General Session, February 10, 1988; Debate and vote of the Utah Senate, HB 113, 1988 General Session, February 23, 1988.

¹⁴In the Senate debate before the vote on HB 113, Senator Black asked Senator Nielsen, then President of the Senate, what was the Uninsured Employers' Fund. Senator Nielsen responded that the fund paid a workers benefits when the employer was insolvent and uninsured. Senator Black then asked whether there was funding for the bill and received an affirmative answer. Debate and vote of the Utah Senate, HB 113, 1988 General Session, February 23, 1988.